IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDDIE LEE SEXTON, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

: Case No. 94,487

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANDREA NORGARD Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0661066

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The instant appeal arises from the retrial of Mr. Sexton as ordered by this Court on July 17, 1997 and pursuant to the Mandate issued on August 18, 1997. (Vol.I,R67-72) This appeal follows the re-imposition of a sentence of death by the trial court.

Mr. Sexton was indicted for the First-Degree Murder of Joel Good on February 16, 1994, in Hillsborough County. (Vol.I,R58-59) Counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Sexton. (Vol.I,R73-74)

Numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of the death penalty were filed, and subsequently denied, by the trial court. (Vol.I,R145-155;Vol.II,R156-196;Vol.XII,T1076-1078) Pretrial motions requesting to limit victim impact evidence and to video tape that evidence were also filed. (Vol.I,R125-132) At a hearing on November 19, 1998, the motion to video and to limit the victim impact evidence to prepared written statements to be read by the family members was granted. (Vol.XII,T1064-1069) Motions for special findings and for an interrogatory penalty phase verdict were filed. (Vol.I, R136-144) Each was denied at the November 19th hearing. (Vol.XII,T1070-1073)

On December 17, 1997, defense counsel requested funds to obtain a PET scan and interpretation of the scan. (Vol.II,R197-247) The motion was granted. The State's motion to compel a mental examination for use in penalty phase was likewise granted on July 29, 1998. (Vol.II,R250-251)

On July 14, 1998, the State filed a Suggestion of Conflict and attached a copy of a Motion for Post-conviction Relief filed on

behalf of Mr. Sexton. (Vol.II, R252-282) The Suggestion for Conflict alleged that Mr. Sexton's current attorney, Rick Terrana, was alleged to have engaged in conduct which resulted in an improper plea in another case. (Vol.II,R252-282) A hearing was held on the Motion For Suggestion of Conflict on July 15, 1998. (Vol.XII, T1082-1088) Attorney Brian Donnerly, who represented Mr. Sexton in the post-conviction matter, advised the court that trial counsel was not being alleged to have been ineffective. (Vol.XII, T1082) The allegations in the post-conviction claim were that both Mr. Sexton and counsel had been misled by the court. (Vol. XII, T1082) Mr. Terrana advised the court that he would like the court to question Mr. Sexton and obtain a waiver of any conflict. (Vol. XII, T1083) The court then questioned Mr. Sexton, asking if he was willing to waive any conflict that might arise in this case as a result of the post-conviction proceeding. (Vol.XII, T1087) Mr. Sexton stated he wanted Mr. Terrana to represent him. (Vol. XII, T1087) Mr. Donnerly also advised the court that he had discussed the situation the prior evening with Mr. Sexton. (Vol.XII,T1087)

On August 21, 1998, counsel for Mr. Sexton moved for a clarification from the trial court of this Court's earlier opinion concerning what evidence relating to dissimilar fact evidence under Section 90.402 would be admissible in the new trial. (Vol.II,R287-299) The court ruled testimony relating to Willie was admissible. (Vol.XII,T1120) On the remaining areas, the judge did not rule pretrial. A separate motion sought to preclude the State

from mentioning Mr. Sexton's appearance on the television show "America's Most Wanted" was filed and granted. (Vol.III,R301-302)

A hearing was held on August 24, 1998. (Vol.XII,T1093) At the beginning of the hearing, Mr. Sexton presented the court with a letter, which according to the court, contained a request for new counsel. (Vol.XII,T1096;Vol.SR3-4) Mr. Sexton said this was not the first request, he had made a previous request in February. (Vol.XII,T1097) Mr. Sexton said he had no confidence in his lawyers. (Vol.XII,T1098) Without further inquiry, the court denied the request. (Vol.XII,T1098)

At the same hearing the court denied a motion for individual and sequestered voir dire. (Vol.XII,T1112) The court granted a defense motion to prohibit the State from having Teresa Boron testify about a conversation with Mr. Sexton regarding whether Joel Good was left insurance money after the death of his parents. (Vol. XII,T1128) The court also reversed its earlier ruling on the videotaping of the victim impact evidence. (Vol.XII,T1139)

Mr. Sexton was tried by jury from August 31, 1998 through September 3, 1998, with the Honorable Roger Padgett, circuit judge, presiding. (Vol. III,R311) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on September 3, 1998. (Vol.III,R342)

Penalty phase commenced on September 4, 1998. (Vol.III,R343) Following the presentation of evidence, the jury returned an advisory recommendation in favor of death by a vote of eight to four. (Vol.III,R354)

A motion for new trial and a motion for JNOV were filed on September 22, 1998 and denied on October 5, 1998. (Vol.III,R355-358; Vol.XI,T1037-1044) Brief argument regarding sentencing was made by the defense. (Vol.XI,T1038-1044)

In preparation for sentencing, a Memorandum in Support of a Life sentence was filed on November 17, 1998. (Vol.III,R359-370) The State Sentencing Memorandum was filed on November 18, 1998. (Vol.III,R370-383) Mr. Sexton appeared for sentencing on November 18, 1998. The court's written sentencing order reflects that the court found three aggravating factors as follows:

1. The defendant had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence. This was a 1965 conviction for Armed Robbery. The court assigned little weight to this factor. (Vol.III,R385;388)

2. The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. The court assigned great weight to this factor. (Vol.III,R386;388)

3. The capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The court assigned great weight to this factor. (Vol.III,R386;388)

In mitigation the court found the following factors:

1. The defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time the capital felony was committed. This factor was assigned great weight. (Vol.III,R386-388)

2. The defendant was capable of kindness to children and would even act as Santa Claus at Christmas.

3. The defendant was Pastor of a church attended by family and friends.

4. The defendant at times had a normal, loving relationship with his children.

5. The defendant often helped his mother and sisters with household chores and repairs.

The defendant's father died when the defendant was
10, depriving him of a male role model.

Each one of factors 2 through 6 was assigned some weight. (Vol.III,R388)

The court sentenced Mr. Sexton to death, writing that the sentence was proportional even with Willie Sexton receiving a lessor sentence because the murder was the sole idea of Appellant. (Vol. III,R388-389) The sentencing order was not read in open court. (Vol.XI,T1047-1048)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on November 25, 1998. (Vol.III,R390)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The trial testimony is summarized as follows:

Judy Genetin is employed at the Stark County, Ohio, Division of Human Services. (Vol.VI,T353) She is a licensed attorney. (Vol. VI,T353) In Ohio, the Division of Human Services (DHS) has the responsibility to investigate allegations of abuse and neglect of children. (Vol.VI,T353) Through the Division's involvement with Mr. Sexton, Ms. Genetin became very familiar with the Sexton family. (Vol.VI,T354)

Ms. Genetin identified a family tree outlining the Sexton family's genealogy. (Vol.VI,T355) According to Ms. Genetin, Mr. Sexton was the father of two children, Shasta and Dawn, whose mother was Estella Mae "Pixie" Good, Mr. Sexton's daughter. (Vol. VI,T356-357) Skipper Lee Good was the child of Estella Mae Good and Joel Good. (Vol.VI,T357)

On February 11, 1992, DHS opened an investigation into the Sexton family and on February 12, 1992, one of the children left the home and went into a temporary shelter. (Vol.VI,T357) On February 16, 1992, a dependency and pick-up order authorized the removal of the remaining children from the home. (Vol.VI,T357-58) The following day, after a hearing, DHS was granted temporary custody of the six youngest children. (Vol.VI,T358) The children were then placed in foster care. (Vol.VI,T358)

Five months later, in September, custody of three children, Kimberly, Christopher, and Charles, was returned to their mother,

б

Mae Sexton. (Vol.VI,T359) The whereabouts of Charles were unknown at that time. (Vol.VI,T359) A "no contact" order was in place which forbade Mr. Sexton from having contact with the children. (Vol.VI,T360)

On November 21, 1992, Ms. Genetin and the Jackson Ohio Police Department became involved in a negotiation process with Mr. Sexton. (Vol.VI,T360) Mr. Sexton had barricaded himself inside the family home on Caroline Street. (Vol.VI,T360) Mr. Sexton was demanding the immediate return of the remaining children in foster care. (Vol.VI,T361) Ms. Genetin agreed to change the social worker on the Sexton case because Mr. Sexton did not like her, and a court hearing was scheduled for three days later. (Vol.VI,T361-362) None of the Sextons appeared for that court hearing. (Vol.VI, T361) Arrest warrants were issued for Mr. Sexton and his wife in October 1993. (Vol.VI,T373)

Steve Zerby was a Captain with the Jackson Township Police force in 1992. (Vol.VI,T364) Mr. Zerby had known Mr. Sexton 25 or 30 years, stemming back to before he was a police officer and had been Mr. Sexton's barber. (Vol.VI,T364)

On November 21,1992, he was called to the Sexton home because Mr. Sexton had barricaded himself in the house with three juvenile children, one adult child, and his wife. (Vol.VI,T365) Mr. Sexton had first called the press to alert them to his dissatisfaction with DHS, and the press called the police. (Vol.VI,T369) Mr. Zerby engaged in telephone negotiations with Mr. Sexton for around 11 hours. (Vol.VI,T366) Mr. Sexton told Mr. Zerby that he had

barricaded himself in the house because he thought there were more pick-up orders on his children and he would not allow that. (Vol.VI, T366) Mr. Sexton told Mr. Zerby that he would kill anyone from Child Protection Services or any policeman that tried to take any of his children. (Vol.VI,T367)

When Mr. Sexton left the house and the police entered around 8:00 p.m., they found the house had been fortified. (Vol.VI,T365) The doors had been removed from their hinges and nailed across the windows. (Vol.VI,T368) Chicken wire and plastic bags also covered the windows. (Vol.VI,T368) A lighting system had been set up under tables and there were large amounts of canned food and water. (Vol. VI,T368) Police found a .357 revolver and one 20 gauge shotgun, along with 70 rounds of ammunition. (Vol.VI,T368) The guns were taken into custody and not returned to Mr. Sexton. (Vol.VI,T368)

On September 20, 1993, DHS took permanent custody of the five youngest children. (Vol.VI,T362) Charles had turned 18, so custody was not obtained on him. (Vol.VI,T362) State's Exhibit 16, a video tape, was published to the jury. (Vol.IX,T631) The tape was made by Mr. Sexton after leaving Ohio, while he and some of his family were on the road. (Vol.IX,T631) The tape is summarized as follows:

Mr. Sexton addressed the tape to the citizens of the United States, and requested that some government official step in and stop what was happening to his family. (Vol.IX,T631) According to Mr. Sexton, he and his family of twelve children were living a good life in Ohio until 1991 when one of the children, Machelle, ran away from home after dumping urine on the younger children's

heads. (Vol.IX,T633) Machelle returned in six days, claiming she had been sexually abused by her friend's father. (Vol.IX,T634) Machelle again began to cause trouble in February, which culminated in a fight with her brother and Machelle was scratched on the face. (Vol.IX,T635) The next day, Social Services came and took Machelle's clothing and told Mr. Sexton that Machelle was ten weeks pregnant. (Vol.IX,T636) Machelle left the home. (Vol.IX,T637)

In April, Mrs. Sexton went to school to pick the children up and found that Social Services had taken them and that the police were waiting for her at the elementary school. (Vol.IX,T637) Apparently, Machelle had had further difficulties, and Mr. Sexton was being accused of sexually molesting her. (Vol.IX,T638) The children were taken and given to Mr. Sexton's brother Otis, whom Mr. Sexton does not like. (Vol.IX,T638-39) After a court hearing the children were taken from Otis and placed in foster care. (Vol.IX,T639)

On the tape Mr. Sexton claimed that he and his wife were American Indians and that they had sought assistance from the "Indian Nation". (Vol.IX,T640) They had a lengthy struggle to be recognized as such. (Vol.IX,T641) After traveling across the country, he and his wife still needed some number to prove their status as Indians, so Mr. Sexton appealed for help in obtaining that . (Vol.IX,T660)

Eventually, Mr. Sexton moved out of the home and into a camper with his son Willie. (Vol.IX,T642) Despite great health issues,

Mr. Sexton lived in the camper from July until November. (Vol. IX, T643)

Mr. Sexton chronicled his perceptions of his children's experiences in the foster homes. (Vol.IX,T643-646;650-1;658;668-672)

Mrs. Sexton eventually took a trip with some of the children to Fort Knox. (Vol.IX,T646) While she was gone she learned that another pick-up order had been issued. (Vol.IX,T649) The car had broken down, she had no one to help her, and Mr. Sexton couldn't be around the children. (Vol.IX,T648-49)

At this point Mr. Sexton decided to barricade himself and family in the house to put a stop to what was going on. (Vol.IX, T652) Mr. Sexton instituted the barricade and called the press. (Vol.IX,T655) At the end of it he was taken to the crisis center and evaluated. (Vol.IX,T654) Mr. Sexton bonded out of jail and the next day found out that the police were coming after his wife. (Vol.IX,T654) Mr. Sexton and his wife decided to flee with the three children they had. (Vol.IX,T657)

Mr. Sexton concluded the tape by stating that he would give his life for his family because they were his country. (Vol.IX, T665) Without family, there would be no country. (Vol.IX,T665) A stand had to be taken against the people who would take children out of a family. (Vol.IX,T666)

The next contact the police had with the Sexton family was in 1994. (Vol.IX,T373) Detective Steve Ready of the Stark County, Ohio Sheriff's Office, learned that Mr. Sexton had been arrested in

Hillsborough County, Florida on January 14, 1994. (Vol.VI,T373) Detective Ready interviewed three of the Sexton children: Eddie, Jr., Sherri, and Charles (also known as Skipper). (Vol.VI,T373-374) After these conversations, Detective Ready notified Hillsborough County of the possibility of two homicides. (Vol.VI,T374)

On January 20, 1994, Detective Ready and Charles Sexton came to Hillsborough County to locate the grave of the infant, Skipper Good. (Vol.VI,T375) The child's grave was found in the Hillsborough River State Park on January 27th. (Vol.VI,T395-396) Later that day, they searched for the body of Joel Good in the Little Manatee River State Park. (Vol.VI,T375;396) The body was recovered on January 28th. (Vol.VI,T397) A video was made of the walk from the Sexton's camper to the gravesite. (Vol.VI,T398)

Dr. Marie Hermann was the assistant medical examiner at the time Joel's body was recovered. (Vol.IX,T620) She participated in the removal of the body from the grave. (Vol.IX,T622) The body had been buried about three feet deep. (Vol.IX,T622) When Joel Good's body was taken from the grave, there was a rope tied to two sticks around his neck. (Vol.VI,T400; Vol.IX,T623)

An autopsy was performed on the body. (Vol.IX,T624) Despite advanced decomposition, Dr. Hermann found bruising on the neck under the ligature. (Vol.IX,T625) Red discoloration indicated that pressure had been applied. (Vol.IX,T626) Dr. Hermann's opinion was that Joel died as a result of asphyxiation due to ligature strangulation. (Vol.IX,T626)

Dr. Hermann also observed a wound to the right hand of Joel Good. (Vol.IX,T628) This wound was consistent with being a chop wound. (Vol.IX,T629) It was caused by a sharp object applied with great force. (Vol.IX,T629) A machete could have caused it. (Vol.IX,T630)

Yale Hubbard is employed by the Little Manatee River State Park as a ranger. (Vol.VI,T378) His duties include the registration of campers, providing services to campers, and maintenance of the campground. (Vol.VI,T378) The park has electricity and water hookups, as well as phones available. (Vol.VI,T391) In November and December 1993 and January 1994 he rented a campsite to Mr. Sexton and his family. (Vol.VI,T380) Two weeks was generally the rental limit, but if the spaces were available, a stay could be extended. (Vol.VI,T381) The family stayed until Mr. Sexton's arrest by the FBI. (Vol.VI,T381)

The Sexton's occupied site 18. (Vol.VI,T383) They camped in a motor home. (Vol.VI,T383) The way the camper was parked was not the usual way and you could not see into the door from the road. (Vol.VI,T384) The license plate was not visible. (Vol.VI,T384) The license number would have been given when the Sexton's registered. (Vol.VI,T387)

There was no rule against babies in the park. (Vol.VI,T389) No complaints were received about babies crying or about the Sextons in general. (Vol.VI,T389) The rent was paid in cash at the ranger station. (Vol.VI,T389) It was paid almost every time by

Estella Mae, who was also known as "Pixie". (Vol.VI,T389) Willie, her brother, almost always accompanied her. (Vol.VI,T389)

Willie Sexton testified that he is the fourth child and son of Mr. Sexton. (Vol.VI,T405;409) He was 27 at the time of trial. (Vol.VI,T406) Willie stated that he finished "special school" and collects social security disability benefits because of the problems he had in school. (Vol.VI,T406) Willie is currently in prison, serving a 25 year sentence. (Vol.VI,T407) Willie has also stayed in Chattahoochee for a year and a half since his arrest. (Vol.VI,T407) Willie still takes medication that was first prescribed for him while he was in Chattahoochee. (Vol.VI,T408)

Willie testified that as a child his father, Mr. Sexton, began to have anal sex with him when he was nine years old. (Vol.VI, T451) Mr. Sexton told Willie that daddies are supposed to do that to their sons. (Vol.VI,T451) This continued in Florida. (Vol.VI, T452) Willie did not tell anyone what was happening because he was afraid that his dad would hurt him. (Vol.VI,T452) Willie has problems with his bowel functions to this day as a result of this. (Vol.VI,T452)

Willie was punished by Mr. Sexton growing up. (Vol.VI,T452) He was hit with a belt, a ball bat, and an electric belt. (Vol.VI, T452) Willie has scars on his forehead from this. (Vol.VI,T453) Mr. Sexton continued to beat Willie while they were in Florida. (Vol.VI,T454) Mr. Sexton would tell Willie "I brought you into the world, so you do what I say." (Vol.VI,T454)

Willie was punished as a child by having to stand naked against the wall with his arms out with books placed on the back of his hands. (Vol.VI,T453) Willie was also tied in his bed at night. (Vol.VI, T455) If he had to use the bathroom, he would have to soil the bed. (Vol.VI,T455) If he soiled the bed, he was beaten. (Vol.VI, T455)

Mr. Sexton teased Willie as a child. (Vol.VI,T455) He called him retarded and stutter bug. (Vol.VI,T455) Willie was not allowed to talk to anybody about what his father did to him. (Vol.VI,T456) Mr. Sexton told the children he would hurt them if they talked. (Vol.VI,T456) Willie was given quarters to take to school and you were supposed to call home if you saw any of the children talking about the family. (Vol.VI,T456) Willie didn't tell HRS what had happened to him in 1992 because he was too scared. (Vol.VI,T457)

Willie believed that Mr. Sexton had special powers. (Vol.VI, T458) Mr. Sexton would show Willie a line on his palm and tell him that he was a warlock. (Vol.VI,T458) Mr. Sexton would tell Willie to look in his eyes, that he could see the devil there. (Vol.VI, T459)

Willie tried to run away once, right after high school graduation. (Vol.VI,T455) Mr. Sexton ran him down with a car, causing him to flip over the hood. (Vol.VI,T455)

When Willie was arrested four years ago he was living with his parents in a campground. (Vol.VI,T410) Willie has never held a job or lived away from his parents. (Vol.VI,T410,451) Willie knew that HRS had taken kids away from his parents in 1992. (Vol.VI,T411)

Willie understood that HRS takes kids when the parents are mean. (Vol.VI,T410)

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