IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDDIE LEE SEXTON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 94,487

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The instant claim relating to the admissibility of testimony about the death of Skipper Lee Good is procedurally barred for the failure to interpose a contemporaneous objection in the lower court. Alternatively, the claim is meritless as this evidence has specifically been found to be admissible in this Court's prior opinion on Sexton's last appeal and the evidence continues to be relevant as to Sexton's motive and inextricably intertwined to place the Joel Good homicide in context.

ISSUE II: The trial court made adequate inquiry as to Appellant's general complaint of disagreement with trial counsel's tactics, Appellant did not offer any specific complaint when given the opportunity at the hearing. See Lowe v. State, 650 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1994); Howell v. State, 707 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1998). Counsel could legitimately decide to retain closing argument because of its critical importance. See Birge v. State, 92 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1957); Wike v. State, 648 So.2d 683 (Fla. 1994).

ISSUE III: The trial court did not err reversibly in permitting limited, edited victim impact testimony from the victim's aunt and uncle as such testimony is permitted by statute and this Court's precedents. Windom v. State, 656 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1995). This claim should be deemed barred for Appellant's failure below -- after receiving notice of the content of their testimony -- to seek exclusion prior to the testimony. Additionally, the

testimony of Boron and Barrick was brief and constituted a legitimate commentary on the good personal qualities of Joel Good. There was no undue prejudicial information submitted. The Court need not reconsider its prior consistent precedents upholding the use of such testimony. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to permit videotaping of the victim impact evidence and this Court can provide meaningful appellate review without requiring the videotaping of all or a portion of a capital trial.

ISSUE IV: The sentence of death imposed sub judice is not disproportionate. The instant case involves three strong aggravators including CCP (deemed one of the most serious created by the legislature), the trial court properly considered and gave appropriate weight to mitigation proffered and the mere fact of the presence of a mental mitigator does not require a finding of disproportionality. See Robinson v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S393 (Fla. 1999). Certainly Eddie Lee Sexton is most deserving of the death penalty for his use of the abused and more limited Willie Sexton as his tool to murder Joel Good to avoid detection by authorities.

ISSUE V: The provision allowing a jury death recommendation by a bare majority vote does not violate the United States Constitution and this Court should adhere to its consistent precedents on this issue. Moreover, the jury in the instant case

recommended death by a vote of eight to four, not by a bare majority and thus Appellant is entitled to no relief.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN ALLOWING UNOBJECTED-TO TESTIMONY RELATING TO THE DEATH OF SKIPPER LEE GOOD.

Appellant complains under this first point that the State impermissibly adduced testimony from Willie Sexton, Matthew Sexton, and Pixie Good about the death of Pixie and Joel Good's infant son Skipper Lee Good. The record reveals that the defense interposed no objection contemporaneously to any of the testimony of Willie Sexton (Vol. VI, R 405-460; Vol. VII, R. 464-498), or of Matthew Sexton (Vol. VII, R. 499-519), or of Pixie Good (Vol. VII, R. 539-611). Nor did Appellant even complain about such testimony non-contemporaneously prior to or during the jury selection or in the trial transcript prior to the testimony. Presumably, Appellant in the lower court was satisfied with this Court's prior determination in Sexton v. State, 697 So.2d 833, 837 (Fla. 1997):

¹Appellant did present other motions for the court's resolution prior to opening statement and introduction of testimony (Vol. VI, R. 313-319). Defense counsel stated "That's all I have" (Vol. VI, R. 319). At a pretrial hearing on August 24, 1998, the defense announced agreement "on Willie's testimony" (Vol. XII, R. 1120) and the prosecutor announced he was not going to put in specific instances of abuse of the children (Vol. XII, R. 1122). The trial court's sentencing order recites that every effort was made by the court and the State to limit evidence of collateral bad acts to that relevant to two issues -- whether the defendant had a motive for killing the victim his son-in-law Joel Good and to what extent he could control and manipulate his son Willie Sexton, the actual killer. (Vol III, R. 384).

[5] With respect to the evidence that Sexton had fathered two of Pixie's children, was involved in the death of Pixie and Joel's baby, and had engaged in a standoff with Ohio police that resulted in him becoming a fugitive, we find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling this evidence We also conclude that the trial relevant. did not abuse court its discretion in performing the necessary weighing process and admitting this evidence. Because Sexton did not actually kill Joel Good, a material issue was whether Sexton had a motive for wanting Joel Good dead such that he would direct another person to commit the crime. record shows that Joel Good, who had knowledge of all of this information, had expressed a desire to return to Ohio. Had the trial court excluded this evidence, the jury would not have understood why Sexton perceived Joel Good as a threat.

(emphasis supplied)

(1) The Instant Claim is Procedurally Barred:

Regretfully, the failure to object contemporaneously below in order to preserve the point for appellate review precludes consideration ab initio now. See generally Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990); Mordenti v. State, 630 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994); San Martin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337, 1345 (Fla. 1997)("we note that San Martin's intelligence level was never argued to the trial court as a basis for suppressing the statements. Thus, that issue is not available for appellate review."); Hazen v. State, 700 So.2d 1207, 1211 (Fla. 1997)(issue regarding admissibility of witness' statements about Hazen staring during a pre-trial hearing procedurally barred for

lack of a contemporaneous objection, although asserted in motion in limine prior to witness' testimony); Lindsey v. State, 636 So.2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 1994) (When the sister testified some three witnesses after the proffer of Williams Rule evidence, Lindsey did not object specifically to her testimony about the car accident and claim was procedurally barred. Because Lindsey failed to object to the testimony when given and on the ground now argued, he failed to preserve this issue for review.); Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988) (challenge to introduction of similar fact evidence "is not properly before this Court because of defense counsel's failure to object to the testimony at trial. Even when a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time collateral crime evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review.")(emphasis supplied); Lawrence v. State, 614 So.2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1993)(same); Norton v. State, 709 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1997)(appellant's motion for mistrial at the close of the witness' testimony insufficient to preserve issue for appellate review); Pomeranz v. State, 703 So.2d 465, 470 (Fla. 1997)(failure to object to collateral crime evidence when it is introduced violates contemporaneous objection rule and waives the issue for appellate review); <u>Hardwick v. Dugger</u>, 648 So.2d 100 1994)(failure to object at time collateral crimes evidence is introduced waives issue for appellate review, even where prior

motion in limine relating to that evidence has been denied); Feller v. State, 637 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1994); Harmon v. State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988); Perez v. State, 717 So.2d 605 (Fla. 3DCA 1998)(opinion granting rehearing holding that following the Criminal Reform Act of 1996 the appellant's failure to preserve the Williams-Rule claim by contemporaneous objection precluded reversal on appeal); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 195 (Fla. 1997)(failure to renew objection contemporaneously at the time of the testimony precludes review); Zack v. State, ____ So.2d, ____, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S19 (Fla. 1999). See also Goodwin v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S583, 585 (Fla. 1999):

Our appellate cases are filled with examples of errors that are unpreserved either because no objection was made⁶ or because the objection was not specific.⁷ If the error is "invited,"⁸ or the defendant "opens the door" to the error, the appellate court will not consider the error a basis for reversal.⁹ In addition, if it is alleged that evidence has been improperly excluded and the appellate record does not establish that a proffer has been made, the lack of an adequate record will be grounds to affirm.¹⁰ Indeed, our case law is filled with procedural pitfalls that may preclude an error from being considered on appeal. (footnotes omitted)

(2) The Claim is Also Meritless:

Appellant contends it was error to allow Willie, Matthew and Pixie to testify about the circumstances of the death of Pixie and Joel Good's infant son Skipper Lee Good. He argues that the details of the death were not relevant to whether Mr. Sexton

ordered Joel killed and that the prejudicial impact outweighed its probative value. Sexton concedes (Brief, p. 44) that in the prior appeal this Court determined that Sexton's involvement in the death of the baby was relevant but he claims the relevancy in retrial was significantly diminished and the amount of the testimony relating to the baby's death not necessary and suggests the issue be revisited. Appellant asserts that in the first trial the main issue was whether Appellant directed Willie to kill Joel Good or as the defense suggested Pixie did and that in the first trial Willie did not testify whereas in the retrial Willie testified and maintained that Sexton -- not Pixie -- directed him to put Joel to sleep. Thus, he maintains, with Willie's direct testimony the necessity was not there to establish why Sexton as opposed to Pixie had been involved in the murder. This argument is belied by the fact that defense counsel both in his opening statement and in closing argument continued to urge the refrain that Willie's testimony not be believed and that Pixie was the dominating force. (See Vol. VI, R. 346, defense opening statement that the evidence would show "that Joel Good was killed by a wife who hated him, Estella Good and by the brother she was closest to, Willie"; Vol. X, R. 842, defense closing argument that the evidence supported the view "that Estella Sexton controlled Willie Sexton, that Estella Sexton had an equally strong motive to kill Joel Good, and that

Estella Sexton egged Willie on to kill Joel Good.").

This Court has consistently held that the test of admissibility of evidence of other crimes is relevancy, not necessity, since the seminal decision of Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959). See, e.g., Ruffin v. State, 397 So.2d 277, 279-280 (Fla. 1981); <u>Hall v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 1321, 1324 (Fla. 1981); Whitfield v. State, 706 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1997); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 192 (Fla. 1997); Kimbrough v. State, 700 So.2d 634, 637 (Fla. 1997); Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805, 813 (Fla. 1996); Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747, 753 (Fla. 1996); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 244, 251 (Fla. 1995); <u>Pittman v. State</u>, 646 So.2d 167, 170 (Fla. 1994); Smith v. State, 641 So.2d 1319, 1322 (Fla. 1994); Crump v. State, 622 So.2d 963, 967 (Fla. 1993). The contention that the evidence may be prejudicial is unavailing since as stated in <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 265 So.2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1972):

All evidence that points to a defendant's commission of a crime is prejudicial. The true test is relevancy.

Appellant argues that the testimony at this trial was different from that in the first as to the reasons Joel wanted to go back to Ohio; he claims that in the first trial the prosecution theory hinged on the reason for Sexton's desire to prevent Joel's return to Ohio was for his own prosecution for the death of the baby, but that in this retrial Pixie indicated that Appellant was

not worried about being in trouble for the baby's death but was more concerned about the authorities locating the family and acting upon outstanding arrests. It is quite irrelevant what Appellant's recollection of the emphasis given to certain aspects of some witnesses' testimony in the first trial may be; the prosecutor may have chosen to have a witness be less expansive in the testimony by his questioning. But clearly this Court in its decision deemed it important and relevant that Sexton "was involved in the death of Pixie and Joel's baby" and "Joel Good, who had knowledge of all this information, had expressed a desire to return to Ohio." 697 So.2d at 837.

Appellant continues that in this retrial there was no testimony that Joel desired to turn in Sexton to Ohio authorities for the death of the baby. But Appellant misses the point about whether Joel Good wanted to have Sexton prosecuted by Ohio authorities for Skipper's death (it would seem Ohio authorities would have no jurisdiction to prosecute a homicide occurring in the State of Florida). The real point is that Sexton had a legitimate concern that Joel Good if allowed to return to Ohio would disclose all he knew about Sexton's activities to grandparents and Ohio authorities -- including a mysterious death and unofficial burial of Skipper -- which would lead to Appellant's discovery and apprehension. As this Court determined in the prior appeal the

evidence was relevant and for a legitimate purpose -- not merely to attack the defendant's character.

Appellant next contends that it was error to present the details of the death and burial of the infant. This too is meritless as well as being procedurally barred for the failure to The testimony relating to the burial of infant object below. Skipper was brief and factual in nature. Steve Ready briefly testified that Charles Sexton pointed out where the infant had been buried on November 20th or 25th (Vol. VI, R. 373-375) as did Detective King (Vol. VI, R. 395), Willie Sexton who described Appellant's concern of disclosure to Ohio authorities by Joel Good ("they'll arrest you and you will tell them where we are and they'll arrest us" -- Vol. VI, R. 433) briefly commented on Sexton's burial ceremony (Vol. VI, R. 434). There was no graphic detail, no unduly emotional presentation whether by photos or words (unlike that presented in Steverson v. State, 695 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1997)).

Much as Appellant would prefer not to acknowledge the matter, the fact remains that the circumstances of the death of infant Skipper Lee Good was an integral part of the murder of Joel Good.

(1) Willie Lee Sexton testified about Appellant's concern about HRS workers, the desire to take them out since they took his kids (Vol. VI, R. 419-420), the training with guns and garrotte and

Joel's desire while in Indiana to return home and again in Florida (Vol. VI, R. 423-426) when baby Skipper got sick, kept crying and making noise Appellant told Pixie to shut the baby up before the baby got them caught with his noise to surrounding campers. the baby began crying at 4:00 in the morning Appellant told her to smother it and explained that she should put her hand over the nose and mouth and hold it ((Vol. VI, R. 428-430). The next morning when the baby was dead Joel was shocked and crying, Joel wanted a real burial and Appellant said no, that they would arrest Joel and that would lead to Appellant's arrest when Joel told of their location (Vol. VI, R. 432-433). Joel was not happy about not taking the baby back to Ohio. Appellant told Joel he could never go back to Ohio, that Joel was a snitch for wanting to go back to Ohio and tell the grandparents and the law what happened. Thereafter Appellant told Willie of the job of putting Joel to sleep to keep Joel from telling the grandparents about the baby being dead (Vol. VI, R. 433-441). Even after the killing Appellant wanted the victim's hand cut off to eliminate evidence (Vol. VI, R. 447).

(2) Matthew Sexton also saw Pixie smother the baby when told by Appellant to quiet the baby (Vol. VII, R. 507). Before the picnic Appellant mentioned they had to watch Joel because he might

take off and give them all away since Joel was "broke down" because his baby was killed (Vol. VII, R. 510).

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